r∤¢ddr,b Library tachment 1 DHAKA 1212 Date ROE SHEET! EXTUCAL REVIEW COMMITTEE, ICDDR, B. incipal Investigator Amy Rice Traince Investigator (if any) plication No. 94-001 Supporting Agency (if Non-ICDDR, B) tle of Study The Effect of Retinol & Project status: ta-carotene supplementation in lactating (X) nen on breastmilk quality and vitamin A .Continuation with change No change (do not fill out rest of form) atus in infants rcle the appropriate answer to each of the following (If Not Applicable write NA). Will signed consent form be required: (n)III subjects (No) From subjects (b) Non#ill subjects From parent or guardian Minors or persons (c)(if subjects are minors) (Yes) No under guardianship No 6. Will precautions be taken to protect 'Does the study involve: anonymity of subjects Physical risks to the Check documents being submitted herewith to subjects No Committee: (b) Social Risks (No. Umbrella proposal - Initially submit an Psychological risks (c) overview (all other requirements will to subjects (No) Yes be submitted with individual studies). (d) Discomfort to subjects (Yes) No Protocol (Required) (c) Invasion of privacy Yes Abstract Summary (Required) (00) (f) Dischosure of informa-Statement given or read to subjects on tion damaging to subnature of study, risks, types of questject|or others Yes (No ions to be asked, and right to refuse hoes the study involve: to participate or withdraw (Required) $\{a\}$ Use of records, (hosp-Informed consent form for subjects ital, medical, death, Informed consent form for parent or hirth or other) No Use of fetal tissue or guardian $\{h\}$ Procedure for maintaining confidential--- abortus No Use of organs or body (c) Questionnaire or interview schedule * fluids If the final instrument is not completed Are subjects clearly informed about: prior to review, the following information (a)Nature and purposes of should be included in the abstract summary: study No A description of the areas to be (b) Procedures to be covered in the questionnaire or followed including interview which could be considered alternatives used ·No either sensitive or which would (c) Physical risks No constitute an invasion of privacy. Sensitive questions (d) NO NA Examples of the type of specific Benefits to be derived $\{c\}$ No questions to be asked in the sensitive Right to refuse to (1)participate or to withareas. An indication as to when the questiondraw from study (Yes No naire will be presented to the Cttee. Confidential handling (g) for review. of data No Compensation &/or treat-(h) ment where there are risks

gree to obtain approval of the Ethical Review Committee for any changes lying the rights and welfare of subjects before making such change.

Yes (No)

Principa Univestigator

or privacy is involved in any particular procedure

Traince

ICDDR.B LIBRARY **DHAKA 1212**

Principal Investigator:

Amy Rice

Co-Investigators:

Andres de Francisco

Jyotsnamoy Chakraborty

Title:

The Effect of Retinol and B-carotene Supplementation in

Lactating Women on Breastmilk Quality and Vitamin A Status

in Infants

Starting Date:

March 1, 1994

Completion Date:

June 30, 1995

Total Direct Cost:

\$80,160

Funding Source:

JHU/ICDDR,B Subcontract

Program Head:

Dr. R. Bradley Sack, Associate Director,

Community Health Division, ICDDR, B

Protocol approved by:

Signature, Program Head Date

Abstract Summary

Background: Vitamin A deficiency is public health problem which affects millions of preschool age children in Bangladesh and other developing countries. Current intervention programs do not reach breastfeeding infants. Improving the vitamin A intake of infants will potentially lower their risk of mortality during the later part of infancy and protect them from developing vitamin A deficiency during the high risk preschool age years.

The most important source of vitamin A for very young infants is the vitamin A they receive from breastmilk. Improving maternal vitamin A status will potentially result in an increase in breastmilk vitamin A levels and thus lead to an improvement in infant vitamin A

Objectives: The objectives of this study are to investigate the efficacy of maternal retinol supplementation (using a single 200,000 IU dose as currently recommended by the World Health Organization) and daily, dietary level β-carotene supplementation (used as a proxy for a dietary intervention) for increasing the vitamin A content of breastmilk and improving the vitamin A status of lactating women and their infants. To achieve this, a community-based, double-blind, individually randomized trial will be conducted among lactating women in Matlab, Bangladesh.

Significance: Studies examining the efficacy, and ultimately the effectiveness of these specific interventions have not been conducted. If both maternal retinol and β-carotene supplementation are shown to be efficacious, program planners may consider either one or both of these strategies when planning appropriate and effective interventions in the future.

RRC Review

.TABLE OF CONTENTS

AIMS OF THE STUDY	
ETHICAL IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION 2	L
BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION	
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK COUNTRY BACKGROUND-BANGLADESI	
COUNTRY BACKGROUNDBANGLADESH DESIGN AND METHODS	
Human subjects Activity/Data collection schedule	
Recruitment of participants	
Baseline household demographic and socio-economic data	
Randomization	
Supplementation schedule	
Supplementation capsules	
Vitamin A status	
Serum retinol and ß-carotene levels	
Conjunctival impression cytology (CIC)	
Modified relative dose response (MRDR) test	
Iron status	
Breastmilk vitamin A content	
Maternal dietary assessment	
Infant dietary assessment	
Anthropometric assessment	
Morbidity assessment	
SAMPLE SIZE	
DATA MANAGEMENT	
DATA ANALYSIS	
LIMITATIONS	
REFERENCES	
20.9	

Attachments

Flow chart of activities Specific tasks for each investigator Budget Reviews and replies Informed consent form - English version Sample questionairres - English versions

AIMS OF THE STUDY

General aim:

We propose to conduct a community-based, placebo-controlled, double-masked, individually randomized trial to investigate the efficacy of maternal vitamin A supplementation among an at risk population.

Specific aims:

- To establish the efficacy of daily, dietary level β-carotene supplementation to lactating women (as a proxy for dietary interventions) for increasing the vitamin A content of breastmilk and improving the vitamin A status of lactating women and their infants.
- To confirm the efficacy of maternal retinol supplementation with a single dose of 200,000 IU retinol (as currently recommended by WHO) for increasing the vitamin A content of breastmilk and improving the vitamin A status of lactating women and their infants.

The outcome measures for this study include the vitamin A status of the mothers (measured by serum retinol, the modified relative dose response (MRDR) test and conjunctival impression cytology (CIC)), the vitamin A content of breastmilk and the vitamin A status of the infants (measured by serum retinol).

Significance:

The results of this study will provide information regarding the efficacy of these two approaches to maternal vitamin A supplementation. If both retinol and β-carotene supplementation strategies are shown to be efficacious, future program planners may consider either one or both of these interventions when planning appropriate strategies targeted at improving the vitamin A status of lactating women and their infants.

Although WHO currently recommends maternal retinol supplementation soon after delivery for lactating women living in areas of endemic vitamin A deficiency, the recent work by Stoltzfus et al. in Indonesia using a 300,000 IU dose was the first well-controlled trial establishing empirical evidence in support of this recommendation. This trial will use a 200,000 IU dose and we anticipate that this study will confirm the efficacy of maternal supplementation. This may be an effective intervention in Bangladesh if women come in contact with health care providers at delivery. Vitamin A capsules could potentially be included in the safe delivery kits which are being distributed to pregnant women by primary health care workers.

Many program planners would like to advocate dietary interventions as an effective and potentially more sustainable strategy. A number of nutrition education and home gardening projects are currently underway in Bangladesh. However, very little work has been done to critically evaluate the efficacy of dietary interventions for improving the vitamin A status of populations. Information regarding the impact of dietary interventions on improving the vitamin A content of breastmilk and the subsequent vitamin A status of infants is nonexistent. This trial will estimate the impact that dietary interventions targeted at lactating women may expect to have and will begin to address these issues.

ETHICAL IMPLICATIONS

Women who reside in the MCH-FP intervention area and voluntarily participate in DSS and MCH-FP program activities will be eligible for this study. Areas of interest for this study include the dietary habits of lactating women, infant feeding practices, morbidity patterns in infants and women and the growth patterns of infants. As such, we will not be asking the study participants sensitive questions. Confidentiality of the data will be maintained by coding the questionairres with study identification numbers, maintaing a seperate identification key and keeping all information stored in locked files.

This study also deals with breastmilk quality and vitamin A status in mothers and their infants. To evaluate breastmilk quality, breastmilk samples will be collected from the women during each of the four study visits. Women will be requested not to feed their infant from one breast for a period of two hours to ensure appropriate sampling for assessing the vitamin A content of breastmilk. However, the infants will be able to feed from the other breast ad libitum. Other than the women perhaps experiencing temporary discomfort during breastmilk collection, we do not anticipate that this will have an adverse effect on the women or their infants.

To evaluate vitamin A status blood samples will be collected from the women by venipuncture on two occasions and once from the infants by heel stick, the modified relative dose respones test will be conducted on the women twice and conjunctival impression cytology (CIC) samples will be collected from the women on four occasions. Other than experiencing temporary discomfort during blood and CIC sample collection, we do not anticipate that these procedures will have an adverse effect on the women or their infants.

Women and their infants will receive health exams during their study visits at the Matlab clinic. They will receive treatment for any health problems which are detected during these visits.

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION

Vitamin A deficiency has long been recognized as an important international public health problem. Each year an estimated one million children worldwide develop xerophthalmia and over 500,000 become blind as a result of severe vitamin A deficiency. An additional 20 to 40 million more may suffer from mild vitamin A deficiency. Despite the efforts of many public health programs around the world, vitamin A deficiency remains one of the leading international nutritional problems in the 1990's.

Vitamin A deficiency manifests itself as a spectrum of signs and symptoms. While severe deficiency is characterized by the appearance of easily detectable clinical signs and symptoms, subclinical deficiency is not. Many efforts in the past have focused on preventing childhood blindness in populations with a high prevalence of clinical signs of eye disease. The point at which subclinical deficiency in an individual or population results in adverse effects is currently unknown. However, recent trials concerning vitamin A supplementation and its effects on mortality and morbidity suggest that subclinical deficiency may also have serious consequences for children.

While most of the studies concerning vitamin A supplementation and childhood

mortality have demonstrated a reduction in mortality, ^{6,7,8,9} the effects on morbidity are less clear. Several studies have shown an association between vitamin A deficiency and diarrhea, ¹⁰ vitamin A deficiency and acute respiratory illness ^{11,12} and vitamin A status and measles outcomes. ^{13,14,15,16} Other studies have shown no effect of vitamin A supplementation on the incidence and severity of diarrhea or respiratory infections ^{17,18} and one recent study found an increase in prevalence of diarrhea and symptoms of respiratory infections following vitamin A supplementation. ¹⁹ Despite the current controversy regarding the exact physiological mechanism, the benefits of supplementary vitamin A capsule distribution programs among preschool age children are much greater than simply preventing nutritional blindness. Other types of interventions which reduce the prevelance of clinical and subclinical deficiency in young children may also have such benefits.

Several factors put preschool age children in developing countries at high risk of developing both clinical and subclinical vitamin A deficiency. Under normal circumstances, placental transfer of retinol is very limited, with the result that all infants are born with low liver reserves of vitamin A and depend on the vitamin A in breastmilk to build up their stores during the first few months of life. However, preterm and low birthweight babies tend to have even lower liver levels than their fullterm counterparts. In many developing countries, a large percentage of infants are born either early and/or with low birthweight, which may create an early disadvantage for them in terms of vitamin A status.

The most important source of vitamin A for infants is breastmilk. While it has been estimated that breastmilk from well-nourished women contains enough vitamin A to provide infants with their requirements for the first 6 months of life, several studies indicate that the vitamin A content of breastmilk decreases with worsening maternal nutritional status. ^{22,23,24} Infants of poorly nourished women in developing countries may consume inadequate amounts of vitamin A from breastmilk early in life. The next most important source of vitamin A for infants is weaning foods which are typically foods high in carbohydrates, but low in micronutrients, including vitamin A. A low intake of vitamin A from breastmilk and weaning foods during infancy puts preschoolers in developing countries at risk of developing vitamin A deficiency.

A variety of approaches have been utilized around the world to address the problem of vitamin A deficiency, with varying amounts of success. These include national programs of vitamin A capsule distribution, food fortification programs, home gardening projects, nutrition education programs and social marketing of vitamin A rich foods. Considering that vitamin A deficiency remains a significant public health problem, it is important to continue to look for new strategies to address this problem.

Current interventions do not reach infants. Children become eligible for supplementary vitamin A capsule distribution programs only after the age of 6 months-1 year and coverage, even in countries which actively promote such a program, is far from universal. Improving the vitamin A status of infants may decrease their risk of mortality later in infancy and help protect them from developing vitamin A deficiency as they get older.

Infants could receive additional vitamin A in several ways. One way is by directly supplementing them with vitamin A. Adding vitamin A supplementation to the list of services provided at the Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI) visits which are recommended for infants at 6, 10 and 14 weeks of life is a programmatically attractive strategy. However, results from a study recently conducted in Matlab, Bangladesh, indicate

that there is cause for concern regarding the safety and potential toxicity of vitamin A administered to such young infants.²⁵

Another way to increase the vitamin A intake of infants is by improving the vitamin A intake of weaning foods, either through nutrition education or through food fortification programs. Nutrition education messages targeted at children and lactating women are currently being promoted in Bangladesh, but very young infants will potentially benefit from increasing their vitamin A intake before they reach the age when they start receiving weaning foods.

An additional way to reach infants is by improving maternal vitamin A status. The most important source of vitamin A for very young infants is the vitamin A they receive from breastmilk which originates from maternal stores of vitamin A. Although the relationship between the vitamin A status of lactating women, breastmilk quality and infant vitamin A status is poorly understood, a number of supplementation studies among lactating women have shown a positive impact on maternal vitamin A status and the vitamin A content of breastmilk. Several of those studies which looked at the subsequent vitamin A status in infants showed an improvement in infant vitamin A status.

The fact that the serum retinol levels of these lactating women rose in response to supplementation suggests that they were initially deficient. Although little work has been done to investigate the prevalence of vitamin A deficiency among women of childbearing age in developing countries, it is suspected to be more widespread than is currently documented. Chronically low dietary intakes in combination with the demands of closely spaced, multiple pregnancies and subsequent periods of lactation compromise the overall nutritional status of women and there is reason to believe that their vitamin A status is compromised as well. Maternal vitamin A supplementation programs for lactating women will potentially benefit both the mothers and their infants.

Improving maternal vitamin A status may be accomplished through direct supplementation with vitamin A capsules, through dietary improvement or through food fortification programs. Evaluations of the sugar fortification programs in Central America and MSG fortification in Indonesia have shown a positive impact on vitamin A status in lactating women. However, in many settings it is difficult to identify an appropriate food vehicle for fortification. Consequently, food fortification programs are not a commonly used means of specifically targeting lactating women to improve their vitamin A status.

The potential of maternal vitamin A supplementation as an effective intervention for improving the vitamin A status of lactating women has been officially recognized in the past decade. Both the International Vitamin A Consultative Group (IVACG) in 1986³² and WHO in 1988³³ have recommended that lactating women who live in areas where vitamin A deficiency is a public health problem be given one oral dose of vitamin A (200,000 IU) within the first postpartum month. If given within that time frame, the risk of teratogenic effects on a subsequent fetus is negligible, while both the mother and breastfeeding infant will benefit. However, the recommendation for the 200,000 IU dosage is based on very little empirical evidence and may not be the optimal means of achieving maternal supplementation.

A randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of maternal supplementation recently conducted by Stoltzfus et al. in Indonesia provides the strongest evidence in support of retinol capsule supplementation. In that study, six months after the administration of a single dose of 300,000 IU of retinol, the vitamin A status (measured as mean serum retinol levels and the

retinol content of breastmilk) of women in the treatment group was better than that of the women in the placebo group. In addition, the proportion of infants in the treatment group with low serum retinol levels was less than that in the placebo group six months after maternal supplementation, indicating a transfer of vitamin A from the mothers to their infants.

Dietary interventions are an alternative and potentially more sustainable approach which could be used to improve the vitamin A status of lactating women and their infants. In many developing countries where vitamin A deficiency is a problem the major dietary source of vitamin A comes from plant foods in the form of \(\beta-carotene. Home gardening programs and social marketing campaigns promoting \(\beta-carotene rich foods for young children are underway in a number of countries. Although it is generally assumed that increasing the dietary intake of \(\beta-carotene rich foods in at risk populations should result in an improved vitamin A status in individuals, very few critical evaluations of dietary intervention strategies have been conducted. We are not aware of any study which has been conducted using biochemical indicators to evaluate the impact of dietary interventions targeted at lactating women.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

At the present time, very little is known about the relationship between the vitamin A status of lactating women, breastmilk quality and infant vitamin A status, especially among populations in developing countries. In general, breastmilk from women in developing countries is lower in retinol content and higher than \(\theta\)-carotene than breastmilk from women in developed countries. These differences may be attributed to variations in dietary habits. While women in developing countries consume the majority of their vitamin A in the form of \(\theta\)-carotene from fruits and vegetables and very little retinol from animal sources, the opposite is true of women in developed countries. The diets of women in developing countries are also generally lower in fat than those of developed countries. However, the effect that these differences have on the composition of their breastmilk has not been definitively established.

The physiology of retinol and \(\beta\)-carotene metabolism and transfer from maternal serum to breastmilk in humans is not well understood. Animal studies concerning the biosynthesis and transfer of vitamin A indicate that the majority of vitamin A in milk is esterified retinol. Retinol originating from liver stores and derived from circulating retinol bound to retinol binding protein has been shown to be esterified in the mammary gland of rats, sheep and monkeys. 35,36,37,38 The same mechanism for the transfer of retinol from serum to breastmilk has been proposed for humans.

While the majority of vitamin A in human breastmilk is retinyl esters, some is in the form of \(\beta\)-carotene. It is unclear how efficiently dietary \(\beta\)-carotene is metabolized and transferred from serum to breastmilk. Is dietary \(\beta\)-carotene transferred intact directly into breastmilk or is it first converted to retinol? Is it then stored as retinol or transferred to breastmilk? How well can infants utilize \(\beta\)-carotene from breastmilk? What effects other than improving the vitamin A status of infants may an increased \(\beta\)-carotene intake have on infants? We are not aware of any previous studies which have been designed to investigate these issues. While this study will not address all of these points, it will begin to fill in some of the gaps in knowledge regarding maternal \(\beta\)-carotene intake, breastmilk quality and infant

RRC Review

vitamin A status.

The vitamin A status of an individual at one point in time is influenced by a number of past and present factors. The vitamin A status of a lactating woman will depend on the current demands for vitamin A (normal physiological functioning plus lactation) as well as available body stores and current dietary intake. The design of this study is based on the current understanding of vitamin A physiology and information will be collected, when possible, on the factors listed in Table 1 which are important determinants of vitamin A status.

Table 1. Factors influencing the vitamin A status of mothers and infants and vitamin A content of breastmilk

Maternal Vitamin A Status>	Breastmilk Vitamin A Content>	Infant Vitamin A Status
 Body stores Age Parity Dietary Intake Morbidity Supplementation status 	 Volume of milk Fat content Retinol concentration (per gram of fat) B-carotene concentration (per gram of fat) 	 Body stores Breastmilk intake Additional dietary intake Morbidity

COUNTRY BACKGROUND-BANGLADESH

Vitamin A deficiency is a significant public health problem throughout much of the developing world, including Bangladesh.³⁹ The Bangladesh National Nutritional Blindness Study of 1982-83 the estimated prevalences for nightblindness among rural and urban preschool age children were 3.6% and 2.8% respectively. All stages of xerophthalmia among the children in this study exceeded the levels set by the WHO as criteria above which a public health problem is considered to exist.⁴⁰

Three national nutritional surveys conducted in Bangladesh have documented low levels of dietary intake of vitamin A in the population. The most recent survey conducted in 1982 showed the average intake of vitamin A to be only 38% of the recommended daily intake (RDI) with only about 10% of families receiving adequate amounts of vitamin A. A dietary intake study conducted by Zeitlin et al. among lactating women in rural Bangladesh in 1986 showed an average intake of 72% of the RDI with approximately 50% of the women consuming only 18% of the basal RDI.

In 1973 the government of Bangladesh initiated a country-wide program to distribute high dose vitamin A capsules to preschool age children twice a year during April/May and October/November. This supplementation program remains an ongoing effort to address the problem of vitamin A deficiency in preschool age children. Despite these activities and more recent nutrition education initiatives and home gardening projects, vitamin A deficiency remains an important public health problem in Bangladesh.⁴⁵

Breastfeeding is the dominant mode of infant feeding in developing countries.

Although breastfeeding has declined all over the world in recent decades, many women in Bangladesh routinely breastfeed their children for one to two years. 46,47,48 The widespread practice of breastfeeding and prevalence of vitamin A deficiency make Bangladesh an appropriate site for a research study to evaluate the efficacy of maternal vitamin A supplementation.

DESIGN AND METHODS

Human subjects

The proposed study will be a collaborative research effort conducted under the existing Joint Memorandum of Understanding regarding research between the International Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh (ICDDR,B) and Johns Hopkins University School of Hygiene and Public Health in Baltimore, Maryland, USA (JHU). The protocol for this study will be reviewed and approved by the Research Review and Ethical Review Committees at ICDDR,B and the Committee on Human Research at JHU.

The study will be conducted in the 70 village area currently served by the Maternal and Child Health Family Planning (MCH-FP) intervention project of the ICDDR, B. The MCH-FP project operates in Matlab, an area located approximately 55 km southeast of the capital city of Dhaka. Residents of Matlab who voluntarily participate in the ongoing community surveillance and the MCH-FP project will be eligible for this study.

Since the majority of individuals in Matlab are illiterate, verbal consent will be obtained from all individuals recruited to participate in this study. Confidentiality of the data will be maintained by coding the questionairres and biological specimens with study identification numbers, maintaining a seperate identification key and keeping all information stored in locked files in either Matlab or Dhaka.

Activity/Data collection schedule

This study will be a double-masked, placebo-controlled, individually randomized, community based trial of vitamin A supplementation of lactating women. Women and their infants will be enrolled in the study 14 days (±7 days) after birth and followed until the infant is 9 months old. In addition to receiving their regular MCH-FP visits every two weeks, study participants will come to the Matlab clinic for a special study visit four times over the course of a year.

Data collected for this study will come from information abstracted from MCH-FP records, questionnaires administered to study participants, through anthropometric measurements or result from laboratory tests on biological specimens. Table 2 outlines the schedule of data collection activities.

Table 2. Activity/Data collection schedule

i i	VISIT TYPE	
Age of infant	Matlab clinic visit	MCH-FP home visit every two weeks
14 days ± 7 days	 Informed consent Randomization/enrollment Baseline household demographic and WI data† Breastmilk collection Maternal serum sample collection Maternal CIC sample collection Infant weight and length Maternal dietary assessment Maternal supplementation begins 	• Infant and maternal morbidity† • Infant dietary assessment†
3 months ± 7 days	 Breastmilk sample collection Maternal serum sample collection Maternal CIC sample collection Infant weight and length Maternal height, weight and mid-upper arm circumference Maternal dietary assessment 	
6 months ± 7 days	 Breastmilk sample collection Maternal serum sample collection Maternal CIC sample collection Infant serum sample collection Infant weight and length Maternal dietary assessment 	
9 months ± 7 days	 Breastmilk sample collection Maternal serum sample collection Maternal CIC sample collection Infant weight and length Maternal dietary assessment 	- ,

[†] Information to be abstracted from existing MCH-FP records

* Maternal serum/CIC samples will be collected at two out of the four points in time from any one individual as local investigators felt that four blood draws would represent an excessive burden on subjects

Recruitment of participants

All pregnant women who deliver live infants in the intervention area served by the Maternal Child Health-Family Planning (MCH-FP) project during the study recruitment period (~2 months) will be eligible to participate in this study. Pregnant women identified through the ongoing MCH-FP surveillance will be invited to participate in this supplementation study towards the end of their pregnancies. If agreeable, the woman will be recontacted within two weeks (± 1 week) after delivery, screened for eligibility and enrolled in the trial. Births will be detected by intensive surveillance of the 80 community health workers (CHWs) in the MCH-FP project area during the recruitment period. Women who are not breastfeeding their infants will be excluded from the trial.

Baseline household demographic and socio-economic data

As part of the ongoing MCH-FP project activities, a MCH-FP CHW visits each household in the project area twice a month to record vital events and collects information on the health and reproductive status of mothers, family planning practices, infant feeding practices and morbidity data on children under five years old. Baseline socio-economic and demographic information concerning the households of study participants will be abstracted from records maintained by the MCH-FP project. The baseline questionnaire will include a section regarding a maternal history of night blindness during the most recent and/or previous pregnancies.

Randomization

Prior to the beginning of the study, investigators at JHU will draw up the randomization schedule. Randomization will occur at the level of the mother-infant pair. Women will be assigned to one of three treatment groups (\$\beta\$-carotene, retinol or placebo) and one of six follow-up schedules for blood draws (0 and 3 months, 0 and 6 months, 0 and 9 months, 3 and 6 months, 3 and 9 months or 6 and 9 months). Although it would be preferable to collect blood samples from all women at all four points in time, investigators in Matlab feel that this represents an excessive burden on the mothers and would increase the likelihood of loss to follow-up. Table 3 outlines the various randomization cells in the study.

Table 3. Randomization Cells

Treatment Group	Combination of months at which blood will be drawn from an individual mother in the trial								
Treatment Group	0 & 3	0 & 6	0 & 9	3 & 6	3 & 9	6 & 9			
Retinol	1	2	3	4	5	6			
B-carotene	7	8	9	10	11	12			
Piacebo	13	14	15	16	17	18			

The randomization schedule will employ uniform allocation and a block design with blocks of equal length. Women-infant pairs in the trial will be sequentially assigned a unique

identification number drawn from a list starting with 001. To ensure masking, the key to the enrollment code will be kept in with investigators at Johns Hopkins University and broken only after the conclusion of the trial.

Study participants will not be matched on any baseline factors prior to randomization. The population in the MCH-FP area is reasonably homogeneous with respect to socioeconomic status, age structure etc. and based on data from previous years we expect births to be relatively evenly distributed in the area. In light of the already complex randomization scheme, the marginal benefits of matching participants on any baseline factors are outweighed by the logistical difficulties involved in attempting to do so.

Supplementation schedule

Lactating women enrolled in the study will belong to one of three treatment groups: β-carotene, retinol or placebo. They will receive daily supplementation capsules over the course of nine months following the schedule outlined in Table 4. MCH-FP CHWs will deliver packets containing a two week supply of capsules to the study participants' homes during their regular fortnightly visit.

Table 4. Supplementation schedule

	<u> </u>					Day	of stu	dy				
Treatment Group	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8			252
ß-carotene	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	В
Retinol	R	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	x	X
Placebo	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	х	Х	X	X

B= 7,800 μ g β-carotene in oil

R= 200,000 IU retinol palmitate

X= placebo

Compliance will be assessed by having the CHWs collect the used packets of capsules and count and record the number of remaining capsules each time a new supply is delivered. Spot checks of compliance with the daily dosing regime will be conducted on a subset of study participants by project specific field workers.

Supplementation capsules

Three types of supplementation capsules will be used in this study: β -carotene capsules containing 7,800 μ g of β -carotene in oil, retinol capsules containing 200,000 IU of retinyl palmitate and placebo capsules containing neither retinol or β -carotene. The capsules will be manufactured by Banner/Pharmacaps (Elizabeth, NJ) to resemble each other in size and color as much as possible.

β-carotene: Because it is difficult to document, much less control what people eat, daily β-carotene capsules containing the US RDA (1300 retinol equivalents (RE)) of vitamin

A for lactating women will be administered during the nine months of the study. This will be used as a controlled way to simulate a dietary intervention which promotes β -carotene rich foods and results in lactating women consuming the US RDA of β -carotene every day. Using the conventional conversion factor of 1 RE equal to 6 μ g β -carotene, the daily dose of β -carotene equals 7800 μ g. This conversion factor is based on the assumption that 30% of the consumed β -carotene is absorbed and that the β -carotene is converted to retinol in a 1:1 ratio.

A number of factors may affect the validity of using \(\beta\)-carotene capsules to simulate the effect of a dietary intervention. Some studies suggest that \(\beta\)-carotene given in a capsule is absorbed better than that found in food. While it is clear that some oil or fat is essential for the absorption of \(\beta\)-carotene, the minimum required amount and the relationship between varying amounts of dietary fat and efficiency of absorption is not well described. Some, but not all studies, have shown a greater impact on the serum retinol levels of study subjects when \(\beta\)-carotene supplements (as capsules or food) were consumed with additional oil, rather than the \(\beta\)-carotene supplements alone. \(^{51,52,53,54}\)

The \(\beta\)-carotene capsules in this study will be manufactured by Banner/Pharmacaps in a manner similar to their regularly produced, over-the-counter daily \(\beta\)-carotene supplement capsules sold on the American market. The \(\beta\)-carotene will be dissolved in a small amount of oil, which should be sufficient to stimulate absorption.

The mechanism of the conversion of β-carotene to retinol is currently an area of intense debate. Theoretically, one molecule of β-carotene could yield 2 molecules of retinol, depending on the mechanism of conversion. However, some animal experiments show a conversion ratios ranging from less than 1:1 to 1:2, with an increasing conversion ratio as the dosage of β-carotene decreased. For β-carotene intakes in the range of the daily US RDA the most widely accepted and used conversion ratio is 1:1.

The literature regarding \(\beta\)-carotene metabolism and its interrelationship with other nutrients is limited. While a number of factors have been proposed to influence the metabolism of \(\beta\)-carotene in humans including the fat content of the diet, zinc status, protein status and current vitamin A status, the literature regarding these factors is contradictory. This study will be conducted among a population of lactating women who are presumed to be subclinically deficient. It is unknown how efficiently these women will convert the \(\beta\)-carotene consumed in the supplementation capsules.

The bioavailability of β -carotene present in foods is very difficult to determine. Studies show that the absorption and bioavailability of β -carotene from foods varies widely, depending on the type of food, methods of preparation and other components of the diet. 57,58,59,60 It is difficult to accurately simulate something that varies so widely.

Given the lack of more definitive information and the even more difficult task of attempting to conduct an efficacy study of β -carotene supplementation using food, daily capsules containing 7800 μ g β -carotene in oil will be used to simulate a dietary intervention and to investigate the efficacy of β -carotene supplementation.

Retinol: The retinol supplementation capsules will contain 200,000 IU retinyl palmitate and 40 μ g tocopherol. This is the dose currently recommended by the WHO for supplementation of lactating women. While this may not be the optimal dosage for maternal vitamin A supplementation, the aim of this study is to investigate the efficacy of the current WHO recommendation.

Placebo: The placebo capsules will not contain any retinol or B-carotene. This group

is being included for comparison purposes.

Vitamin A status

The main outcomes of this study are the vitamin A content of breastmilk and the vitamin A status of the mothers and infants. Indicators of vitamin A status which are commonly used in research studies include serum retinol levels, the relative (and modified relative) dose response test, conjunctival impression cytology, dark adaptation and the determination of dietary intakes of vitamin A, none of which is ideal. Utilizing a combination of indicators rather than a single one provides a better estimate of the overall vitamin A status of a population. In this study serum retinol and \(\beta\)-carotene levels will be measured on mothers and infants, the modified relative dose response test and conjunctival impression cytology will be conducted on women and information on dietary practices will be collected from both mothers and infants.

Serum retinol and β-carotene levels: The most commonly used method of vitamin A assessment for population studies is the determination of serum retinol levels, a method which measures the amount of retinol circulating in the bloodstream of individuals. Due to homeostatic control, serum retinol levels reflect liver stores only at the extremes of very low and very high body stores. While the serum retinol level of an individual is not necessarily a good indicator their vitamin A status due to day to day variability, the mean serum retinol level of a population is a useful indicator of the group's status.

In this study, blood samples will be collected from mothers at two points in time (either 0, 3, 6 or 9 months) by venipuncture. The serum samples will be collected and stored to avoid the degradation of retinol and β-carotene. Precautions include protecting the samples from light and oxidation and keeping them appropriately frozen until analysis. Stability studies conducted with plasma samples showed a negligible loss of retinol and β-carotene after 28 months with storage at -70° C or after 5 months at -20° C. After collection and processing at the clinic in Matlab, the serum samples will be temporarily stored at -20° C until they can be transported to Dhaka, where will be stored at -70° C until they are analyzed for retinol and β-carotene using high-performance liquid chromatography.

Serum samples will be collected by heelprick from all of the infants once at the six month visit, stored and analyzed for their retinol and \(\beta\)-carotene content in the same manner as maternal serum samples. The six month, rather than the nine month visit, was chosen in order to assess the impact maternal supplementation has on infant vitamin A status before the infants become eligible to receive supplemental vitamin A capsules at the age of six months. The government of Bangladesh recommends that all infants receive 100,000 IU of vitamin A at six months of age. All infants in the study will receive supplementation according to these guidelines. They will continue to be followed for the next three months for anthropometric, dietary and morbidity assessment.

Conjunctival impression cytology (CIC): Conjunctival impression cytology is another technique under development as an indicator of vitamin A status of individuals.⁶⁵ This method measures histological changes in the conjunctiva of the eye which may occur as a result of vitamin A deficiency. The technique has been successfully used in field trials with children, but has been shown to be more problematic when used with infants or children less than three years old.⁶⁶ However, the method may have potential for use as an assessment tool in adults.⁶⁷ CIC samples will be collected only from the mothers during the clinic visits at

baseline, three, six and nine month clinic visits.

Modified relative dose response (MRDR) test: Recent work indicates that the modified relative dose response test is another useful indicator of marginal vitamin A status. This method indirectly assesses liver stores by measuring the release of retinol binding protein (RBP), which accumulates in the liver during marginal and severe vitamin A deficiency, following the administration of a test dose of 3,4-didehydoretinyl acetate. This technique has been successful used in field studies with children, but not yet among a population of lactating women. In this study the MRDR test will be conducted in women, but not infants, during the same clinic visits when blood is drawn for the determination of serum retinol and β-carotene.

Iron status

Although several studies suggest an association between vitamin A deficiency and poor iron status, the mechanism and public health importance of this interaction are unclear. ^{70,71,72} Iron deficiency is a common condition among women in the developing world, including Bangladesh. In a clinic based trial of 129 women of childbearing age in Matlab, 48% of the women surveyed had hemoglobin levels less than 11 g/dl and 20% had levels less than 10 g/dl. ⁷³ Currently, all women in the MCH-FP area are offered iron-folate capsules every two weeks during home visits throughout their pregnancy and period of lactation. While compliance with iron-folate supplementation has not been documented in Matlab, it is suspected to be low. A recent evaluation of an iron supplementation program among pregnant women in Dhaka showed very poor compliance with a daily supplementation regime. ⁷⁴

In this study, delivery of iron-folate capsules to study participants' homes during pregnancy and lactation will be recorded. Hemoglobin measurements will be determined on blood samples from both the mothers and infants using a HemoCue hemoglobinometer (Helsingborg, Sweden). Associations between the vitamin A and iron status of both the woman and infants will be investigated during the analysis of the study.

Breastmilk vitamin A content

The retinol and \$\beta\$-carotene present in breastmilk is associated with the fat portion of the milk.\(^{75}\) The fat content of breastmilk has been shown to vary widely according to time of day, time since the last feed and whether the milk is fore or hind milk.\(^{76}\) However, the retinol concentration per gram of fat in breastmilk has been shown to be more constant within an individual. Minimizing the variability in the fat content of breastmilk due to sampling procedures is the most important factor to consider in when attempting to reduce sampling induced variability in breastmilk vitamin A determinations.\(^{77}\)

The following standardized breastmilk collection technique will be used in this study. Samples will be collected from women in the morning from a breast that has not been nursed for at least 2 hours. Manual breast pumps (White River, Laguna Hills, CA) will be used to completely express the milk from the one breast. After manual homogenization, the fat content of the samples will be determined using the creamatocrit method. The remainder of the sample will be aliquoted and temporarily stored at -20° C until they can be transported to Dhaka for further analysis.

Since there is no data available regarding the stability of retinol and B-carotene in

breastmilk and studies indicate that β -carotene levels in plasma stored at -20° C begin to decline after 5 months of storage, the breastmilk samples will also be stored at -70° C in Dhaka until analysis of retinol and β -carotene using HPLC. Breastmilk will be collected from mothers at baseline, three, six and nine month clinic visits.

Maternal dietary assessment

Women will be consuming β -carotene and retinol as part of their normal diets throughout this study, in addition to receiving β -carotene or retinol supplementation. However, since the treatment groups are assigned randomly, it is improbable that women in the various groups will consume different diets during the course of the study.

Twenty-four hour recall interviews are an appropriate method to use to measure current dietary intake in groups of subjects. A twenty-four hour recall interview will be conducted with each study participant at the baseline, three, six and nine month clinic visit, with special emphasis being placed on foods containing \(\beta\)-carotene, retinol and fat. The data will then be coded and food composition tables from Bangladesh will be used to estimate the dietary intake of vitamin A for each woman. This method of dietary assessment will be sufficient to establish group comparability and describe the dietary practices of the study population.

Several studies in rural Bangladesh have documented the importance of seasonality in dietary intake of vitamin A.⁸² Zeitlin et al. found β-carotene rich vegetables (dark green leafy vegetables, pumpkin, green beans and chili peppers) and mangoes to be the most important sources of vitamin A, while retinol from animal products contributed negligible amounts to the total dietary intake of vitamin A in the women in their study.³⁹

Although seasonal availability of fruits and vegetables will influence the amount of vitamin A in the women's diets and their vitamin A status during this study, seasonality should not affect the internal validity of this study. Recruitment will take place over a relatively short period of time (two months) and block randomization will be used to assign women to treatment groups, reducing the probabability that women in the different groups will have different dietary intakes of vitamin A during the study. The relationship between seasonal differences in dietary intake and women's vitamin A status is not a central question of this research and will not be addressed unless a more comprehensive dietary assessment methodology is utilized.

Infant dietary assessment

Breastmilk is expected to be the major source of vitamin A for in the infants in this study. In a study conducted in Matlab, Brown et al. found that over 80% of the vitamin A intake in children less than one year old came from breastmilk. Basic data on infant feeding practices (exclusive breastfeeding, partial breastfeeding, no breastfeeding, supplemental foods) is routinely collected as part of the MCH-FP surveillance questionnaires and will be used in the analysis of this study. No attempt will be made to assess the amount of breastmilk fed to the infants. At the three, six and nine month visits a food frequency questionnaire will be used to record any types of supplemental foods the mother has given to the infant since the previous visit.

RRC Review

Anthropometric assessment

While vitamin A is necessary at the cellular level for differentiation and growth, data regarding the impact of vitamin A supplementation on growth in infants and children is limited. Since it is unlikely that gestational age or birth weight of the infants will be assessed, the baseline weights and lengths of infants will be used to examine group comparability. Weight and length measurements will be repeated at the 3, 6 and 9 month visits.

Mothers in the study will have weight, height and mid-upper arm circumference measurements taken only at the 3 month visit in order to examine the comparability of the treatment groups. This, rather than the enrollment visit, was chosen in order to reduce the variability found in measurements of weight in post-partum women soon after delivery. Body-mass index (BMI) will be calculated and used as an indicator of general nutritional status.

Morbidity assessment

Morbidity in the infants and mothers may adversely affect their vitamin A status. During the regular fortnightly visits conducted by the CHWs in the MCH-FP project mothers are asked to recall any episodes of pneumonia or diarrhea their child may have had during the past two weeks as well as to report any other episodes of morbidity their children or they may have experienced. This information will be used in the analysis of factors influencing the vitamin A status of mothers and infants.

SAMPLE SIZE

The outcome in this study with the most direct programmatic importance is the prevention of subclinical vitamin A deficiency in infants. Vitamin A supplementation of lactating women is expected to improve the vitamin A status of supplemented women, increase the vitamin A content of their breastmilk and change the distribution of serum retinol levels of their infants. Due to the mechanisms of retinol and β-carotene metabolism and storage, supplementation may produce a shift in the distribution of serum retinol values of the infants without producing a statistically significant change in the mean serum retinol value of the groups. For this reason, the sample size calculation is based on a examining the difference in the proportion of infants with low serum retinol values in the treatment groups. This is the outcome which will require the largest sample size.

Since no data exists on the serum retinol levels of a representative group of infants from Matlab, data from the maternal retinol supplementation trial conducted by Stoltzfus et al. in Indonesia³² are used along with the limited data from Bangladesh to estimate the sample size for this trial. The Indonesian trial compared the effects of a one time maternal supplement of 300,000 IU retinol vs. a placebo treatment on the vitamin A status of infants. At the end of the study, the proportion of infants aged 6-7 months in the placebo group with low levels of serum retinol (defined as <15 μ g/dl) was 36%, whereas only 15% of the infants in the retinol treatment group had low serum retinol levels.

Data on the serum retinol levels of infants in Bangladesh comes mainly from clinic based trials. In one dataset from the Matlab area, 39% of infants 0-5 months (n=98) had

serum retinol levels less than 20 μ g/dl,⁸⁴ which is the cutoff level conventionally used to designate low serum retinol levels. Data on the serum retinol levels of 171 infants are available from trials conducted at the ICDDR,B during 1990-1992.⁸⁵ Of those studied, 127 were between the ages of 1-8 months with 80% having serum retinol levels less than 20 μ g/dl. Of those infants 5-8 months old (n=19), 47% had serum retinol levels less than 20 μ g/dl. These infants are in the age range most similar to the infants which will be examined at the end of this study.

In choosing the sample size for this trial, the proportion of infants with serum retinol levels less than $20 \mu g/dl$ in Matlab is assumed to be close to 50%. The desired detectable decrease in the proportion of infants with low serum retinol values between 1) the retinol and placebo groups or 2) the β -carotene and placebo groups is 50%. The difference in the proportion of infants with low serum retinol levels between the retinol and β -carotene groups is expected to be much smaller. This trial is designed to assess the efficacy of each of the treatments vs. a placebo, not to directly compare them to each other. The ability to draw conclusions about the comparative efficacy of the two interventions will depend on the magnitude of the observed differences. Finding that either one or both of the treatments is efficacious in reducing subclinical vitamin A deficiency in infants will be an important result.

The sample size required to detect a difference in proportions between 50% and 25% with an a level of 0.05 and 80 per cent power is 59 infants. The sample size will be increased to account for approximately 20% loss to follow-up for whatever reason, resulting among the randomization cells as shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Number of study participants (mother-infant pairs) by randomization cells

	parts pairs (mother-mant pairs) by randomization cells									
Treatment Group	Combin	Combination of months at which blood will be drawn from an individual mother in the trial								
	0 & 3	0 & 6	0 & 9	3 & 6	3 & 9	6 & 9	(by group)			
Retinol	10^{1} $(12)^{2}$	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	60 (72)			
ß-carotene	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	60 (72)			
Placebo	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	10 (12)	60 (72)			

¹Number desired

²Number recruited after increase per cell for dropouts

N=180 (216)

The chosen sample size will result in sufficient power to detect the differences in proportions between groups shown in the shaded region of Table 6.

Table 6. Number of infants required per treatment group to detect a specified difference in proportions between two groups[§]

1				Pr	oportior	in place	ebo grou	ıp		
		.20	.25	.30	.35	.40	.45	.50	.55	.60
	.10	200	101	63	44	33	26	21	4.4	
	ě	268	135	84	59	44	34	28	17 23	14 19
ļ	.15	906	251	122	74	50	37	28		
1		1212	336	163	98	67	49	40 38	22 30	18 24
Proportion in	.20		1094	294	139	82	55			
β-carotene or			1464	394	186	110	74	40 53	30 40	24 31
retinol	.25	•		1250	329	153	89	59		
į				1674	441	205	119	79	42 56	31 42
	.30				1376	357	163	************		
:					1842	478	219	94 126	61 82	43 58
i.	.35					1470		8		
<u> </u>						1968	376 504	170 228	97 130	63 84

Upper figure power=80 % power Lower figure power=90 % power

Two-sided significance test with α =0.05

The following formula was used for these calculations⁸⁶

$$n = \frac{(z_{\alpha} + z_{\beta})^2 2p(1-p)}{\sqrt{(z_{\alpha} + z_{\beta})^2}}$$

 p_1 = proportion in intervention group

 p_2 = proportion in placebo group

p = average proportion

DATA MANAGEMENT

Data in this study will come from several sources 1) primary data collected directly from study participants 2) laboratory results from the analysis of blood and breastmilk samples and 3) MCH-FP records. The software program dSurvey (Helkorn Pty Ltd, Pearce Act, Australia) will be used to manage data entry and cleaning and to document the data collection process. Primary data collected from study participants and laboratory results will be directly entered into the study database using dSurvey. Data abstracted from MCH-FP results and database diskettes will be stored in a locked cabinet either in the field station in Matlab or in Dhaka.

DATA ANALYSIS

Statistical analyses will be carried out using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS Institute, Cary, NC) program on either a personal or mainframe computer. The general data analysis plan is as follows:

Description of the baseline characteristics of the study population

- Examine the distribution of baseline characteristics of all participants initially eligible for the study (some background will be available on all individuals from MCH-FP records)
- Compare the characteristics of those who enrolled in the study with those who refused to participate
- Examine baseline comparability between treatment groups
- Compare the distribution of baseline characteristics between participants who completed the study vs. those who dropped out or were lost to follow up
- Look for differential dropout by treatment group or follow up schedule

Comparison of infant and maternal vitamin A status between treatment groups

- Compare the vitamin A status of mothers and infants within and between groups across time using the following variables
 - infant serum retinol levels at 6 months
 - infant serum \(\mathcal{B}\)-carotene levels at \(\mathcal{G}\) months
 - maternal serum retinol levels at 0, 3, 6 and 9 months
 - \parallel maternal serum B-carotene levels at 0, 3, 6 and 9 months
 - maternal CIC results at 0, 3, 6 and 9 months
 - maternal MRDR results at 0, 3, 6 and 9 months

Differences in serum retinol levels will be examined using means and proportions. Since standards for serum \(\beta\)-carotene levels do not exist, the data will be examined for differences in means. CIC and MRDR test results will be classified as normal or abnormal according to standard definitions. The data for CIC and MRDR will be examined for differences in proportions.

Comparison of indicators of vitamin A status

- Examine the correlation between CIC, MRDR and serum retinol values for individual women in the study
- Calculate the sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive value of CIC and MRDR for assessing poor vitamin A status (using serum retinol levels as the gold standard)

Comparison of breastmilk quality between treatment groups

- * Compare breastmilk quality within and between groups across time using the following variables:
 - volume of samples collected
 - per cent fat in the samples collected
 - retinol level/gram fat
 - B-carotene level/gram fat

The data will be examined for differences in means.

Consideration of potentially confounding factors

If the treatment groups are not comparable with regard to baseline characteristics or other factors measured during the course of the study, for example dietary intake of vitamin A, those differences may influence the outcome measures and confound the results. Stratification and multiple logistic regression will be used to control for the effects of confounding variables.

LIMITATIONS

When interpreting the results of this study, several limitations related to the design should be kept in mind. One major assumption is the validity of using β -carotene supplementation as a proxy for β -carotene intake from dietary sources. It is unknown how closely the supplement will approximate β -carotene intake from foods. The dosage (equivalent of 1 US RDA for lactating women) and timing of delivery (daily) of the β -carotene supplements were chosen based on our current understanding of β -carotene metabolism and will probably represent the maximum effect that could be achieved by a dietary intervention.

Due to logistic constraints, it will be impossible to assure complete compliance with the supplementation regime. However, the first dose will be taken under the supervision of project staff, which will ensure that all women in the retinol group receive the proper dose. Compliance with the supplementation regime will be estimated through spot checks by field staff during routine visits and by counting the capsules remaining in supplementation packets as they are exchanged for new packets. The amount of \(\beta\)-carotene consumed by study participants will be estimated from compliance figures and utilized during data analysis.

The generalizability of the findings from this study will depend on the extent to which study participants are representative of women in other parts of Bangladesh, South Asia or the remaining developing world. While the magnitude of the effect that may result from retinol and β -carotene supplementation may differ in other settings, the direction of the effect is expected to be the same.

REFERENCES

- 1. Stoltzfus RJ, Hakimi M, Miller K, et al. High-dose vitamin A supplementation of breastfeeding Indonesian mothers: effects on the vitamin A status of mother and infant. J Nutr 1993;123:666-675.
- 2. Sommer A, Tarwotjo I, Hussaini G, Susanto D, Soegigarto T. Incidence, prevalence and scale of blinding malnutrition. Lancet, 1981;i:1407-8.
- 3. UNICEF. Year of the Child, 1991.
- 4. United Nations Administrative Committee on Coordination-Subcommittee on Nutrition. First report on the World nutrition situation. Geneva: United Nations, 1987:36.
- 5. Tielsch JM, Sommer A. The epidemiology of vitamin A deficiency and xerophthalmia. Ann Rev Nutr 1984;4:183-205.
- 6. Sommer A, Tarwotjo I, Djunaedi E, et al. Impact of vitamin A supplementation on childhood mortality. A randomised controlled community trial. Lancet 1986;1:1169-1173.
- 7. West KP Jr, Pokhrel RP, Katz J, et al. Efficacy of vitamin A in reducing preschool child mortality in Nepal. Lancet 1991, 338:67-71.
- 8. Daulaire NM, Starbuck ES, Houston RM, et al. Childhood mortality after a high dose of vitamin A in a high risk population. Br Med J 1992;304:207-10.
- 9. Rahmathullah L, Underwood BA, Thulasiraj RD, et al. Reduced mortality among children in southern India receiving a small weekly dose of vitamin A. N Eng J Med 1990;323:929-935!
- 10. Feachem RG. Vitamin A deficiency and diarrhoea: a review of interrelationships and their implications for the control of xerophthalmia and diarrhoea. Trop Dis Bull, 1987;84(3):R1-R16.
- 11. Milton RC, Reddy V, Naidu AN. Mild vitamin A deficiency and childhood morbidity--an Indian experience. Am J Clin Nutr 1987;46:827-829.
- 12. Sommer A, Katz J, Tarwotjo I. Increased risk of respiratory disease and diarrhea in children with preexisting mild vitamin A deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr 1984;40:1090-1095.
- 13. Coutsoudis A, Broughton M, Coovadia HM. Vitamin A supplementation reduces measles morbidity in young African children: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;54:890-5.
- 14. Barclay AJG, Foster A, Sommer A. Vitamin A supplements and mortality related to measles: a randomised clinical trail. Br Med J 1987;294:294-296.

- 15. Hussey GD, Klein M. A randomized, controlled trial of vitamin A in children with severe measles. N Engl J Med 1990;323:160-164.
- 16. Joint WHO/UNICEF statement on vitamin A for measles. Wkly Epidem Rec 1987;19:133-134.
- 17. Rahmathullah L, Underwood BA, Thulasiraj RD, et al. Diarrhea, respiratory infections, and growth are not affected by a weekly low-dose vitamin A supplement: a masked controlled trial in children in southern India. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;54:568-577.
- 18. Henning B, Stewart K, Zaman K, et al. Lack of therapeutic efficacy of vitamin A for non-cholera, watery diarrhea in Bangladeshi children. Eur J Clin Nutr 1992;46:437-43.
- 19. Stansfield SK, Pierre-Louis M, Lerebours G, Augustin A. Vitamin A supplementation and increased prevalence of childhood diarrhoea and acute respiratory infections. Lancet 1993;341:578-82.
- 20. Shirali GS, Oelberg DG, Mehta KP. Maternal-neonatal serum vitamin A concentrations. J Pediatric Gastr Nutr 1989;9:62-66.
- 21. Olson JA, Gunning DB, Tilton RA. Liver concentrations of vitamin A and carotenoids, as a function of age and other parameters of American children who died of various causes. Am J Clin Nutr 1984;39:903-910.
- 22. Jelliffe DB, Jelliffe EFP. The volume and composition of human milk in poorly nourished communities A review. Am J Clin Nutr 1978;31:492-515.
- 23. Bates CJ. Vitamin A in pregnancy and lactation. Proc Nutr Soc 1983;42:65-79.
- 24. Gebre-Medhin M, Vahlquist A, Hofvander Y, Uppsall L, Vahlquist B. Breast milk composition in Ethiopian and Swedish mothers. I. Vitamin A and β-carotene. Am J Clin Nutr 1976;29:441-51.
- 25. de Francisco A, Chakraborty J, Chowdhury HR, et al. Acute toxicity of vitamin A given with vaccines in infancy. Lancet 1993;342:526-527.
- 26. Villard J, Bates CJ. Effect of vitamin A supplementation on plasma and breast milk vitamin A levels in poorly nourished Gambian women. Hum Nutr:Clin Nutr 1987;41C:47-58.
- 27. Arroyave G, Beghin I, Flores M, Soto de Guido C, Ticas JM. Efectos del consumo de azucar fortificada con retinol, por la madre embarazada y lactante cuya dieta habitual es baja en vitamina A. Estudio de la madre y del nino. Archivos Latinamericanos de Nutricion 1974;24:485-512.
- 28. Bongga DC. Vitamin A supplementation of lactating women in the Philippines: its effect on milk and serum vitamin A. Doctoral Dissertation, Cornell University 1982.

- 29. Ala-Houhala M, Koskinen T, Maki R, Rinkari S. Serum vitamin A levels in mothers and their breast-fed term infants with or without supplemental vitamin A. Acta Paediatr Scand 1988;77:198-201
- 30. Roy SK, Islam A, Molla A, Akramuzzaman SM. Dynamics of Vitamin A levels in the breastmilk of mothers of low socio-economic status in Bangladesh. In:Vitamin A Deficiency in Bangladesh: Prevention and Control, ed. Ian Darnton-Hill. Helen Keller International. Bangladesh, 1989.
- 31. Adair LS, Popkin BM. Prolonged lactation contributes to depletion of maternal energy reserves in Filipino women. J Nutr 1992;122:1643-55
- 32. IVACG Secretariat: "International Vitamin A Consultative Group Recommendations for Safely Improving the Vitamin A Status of Pregnant and Lactating Women and the Nursing Infant: Public Health Considerations". International Life Science Institute/Nutrition Foundation, Washington, D.C., April 1986.
- 33. WHO (World Health Organization), UNICEF, IVACG (International Vitamin A Consultative Group). Vitamin A supplements: a guide to their usage in the treatment and prevention of vitamin A deficiency and xerophthalmia. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1988.
- 34. Newman V. Vitamin A and breastfeeding: a comparison of data from developed and developing countries. Wellstart, February 1993.
- 35. Ross AC. Retinol esterification by mammary gland microsomes from the lactating rat. J Lipid Res 1982;23:133-144.
- 36. Woollard CD, Indyk H. The distribution of retinyl esters in milks and milk products. J Micronutr Anal 1989;5:35-52.
- 37. Vahlquist A, Nilsson S. Mechanisms for vitamin A transfer from blood to milk in rhesus monkeys. J Nutr 1979;109:1456-63.
- 38. Donoghue S. Vitamin A transport in plasma of ewes during late gestation and into milk during early lactation. Int J Vit Nutr Res 1988;58:3-11.
- 39. Cohen N, Jalil MA, Rahman H, Leemhuis de Regt E, Sprague J, Mitra M. Blinding malnutrition in rural Bangladesh. J Trop Pediatr 1986:32:73-78.
- 40. HKI/IPHN. Bangladesh nutritional blindness study 1982-83. Helen Keller International/Institute of Public Health Nutrition. New York: HKI, 1985.

RRC Review

41. USDHEW. Nutrition survey of East Pakistan, March 1962-January 1964. United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Public Health Service, 1966.

- 42. Ahmad K, Huda N, Saber A, et al. Nutrition survey of rural Bangladesh 1975-76. Bangladesh: Institute of Nutrition and Food Science, University of Dacca. 1977:1-158.
- 43. Ahmad K, Hassan N. Nutrition survey of rural Bangladesh. 1981-82. Bangladesh: Institute of Nutrition and Food Science, University of Dhaka. 1983.
- 44. Zeitlin MR, Megawangi R, Kramer EM, Armstrong HC. Mothers' and children's intakes of vitamin A in rural Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;56:136-147.
- 45. Darnton-Hill I. Vitamin A deficiency in Bangladesh. Health Policy and Planning 1988;3(3):205-213.
- 46. Huffman SL, Chowdhury A, Chakraborty J, Simpson NK. Breast-feeding patterns in rural Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr 1980;33:144-154.
- 47. Briend A, Wojtyniak B, Rowland MGM. Breast feeding, nutritional state, and child survival in rural Bangladesh. Br Med J 1988;296:879-882.
- 48. Khan M. Infant feeding practices in rural Meheran, Comilla, Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr 1980;33:2356-2364.
- 49. Meinert, CL. Clinical Trials Design, Conduct and Analysis. New York: Oxford University Press, 1986.
- 50. Jensen CD, Pattison TS, Spiller GA, et al. Repletion and depletion of serum alpha and beta carotene in humans with carrots and an algae-derived supplement. Acta Vitaminol Enzymol 1985;7:189-198.
- 51. Jayarajan P, Reddy V, Mohanram M. Effect of dietary fat on absorption of \(\mathcal{B}\)-carotene from green leafy vegetables in children. Indian J Med Res 1980;71:53-56.
- 52. Giri J, Nandhini A. Effect of sunflower oil on the absorption of B-carotene and serum retinol levels in the preschool children. Ind J Nutr Diet 1985;22:323-329.
- 53. Roels CA, Trout M, Dujacquier R. Carotene balances on boys in Ruanda where vitamin A deficiency is prevalent. J Nutr 1958;65:115-27.
- 54. Khan MF, Ramachandran P, Rao GP. Absorption of carotene in children suffering from kwashiorkor. Indian Pediatrics 1971:8:770-773.
- 55. Brubacher GB, Weiser H. The vitamin A activity of β-carotene. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 1985,55:5-15.
- 56. Rajalakshmi R, Ramakrishnan CV. Studies on carotene and vitamin A with regard to nutritional status, utilization and requirements. Wld Rev Nutr Diet 1978;31:162-167.

1

- 57. Rahman MM, Wahed MA, Ali MA. B-carotene losses during different methods of cooking green leafy vegetables in Bangladesh. J Food Comp Anal 1990;3:47-53.
- 58. Absar N, Malek MA, Ahmad K. Studies on dark green leafy vegetables and fruits. IV Availability of carotene as a source of vitamin A. Bangladesh Pharm J 1976;5:16-19.
- 59 Ortaliza IC, Del Rosario IF, Caedo MM, Alcaraz AP. The availability of carotene in some Philippine vegetables. Phil J Sci 1969;98:123-131.
- 60. Ortaliza IC, Del Rosario IF, Santos MH, Aguilar CG, Dumada-Ug LM. The availability of carotene in some Philippine vegetables II. Phil J Sci 1971;100:95-102.
- 61. Underwood BA. Biochemical and histological methodologies for assessing vitamin A status in human populations. Meth Enzymology 1990;190:242-251.
- 62. Craft NE, Brown ED, Smith JC Jr. Effects of storage and handling conditions on concentrations of individual carotenoids, retinol, and tocopherol in plasma. Clin Chem 1988;34:44-48.
- 63. Lee BL, Chua SC, Ong HY, Ong CN. High-performance liquid chromatographic method for routine determination of vitamins A and E and β-carotene in plasma. J Chrom 1992;581:41-47.
- 64. Government of Bangladesh. Instructions to distribute high potency vitamin A capsules. Project for Prevention of Blindness due to Malnutrition. Public Health and Nutrition Institute. September, 1988.
- 65. ICEPO. Training manual: assessment of vitamin A status by impression cytology. Dana Center for Preventive Ophthalmology, The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD. 1988.
- 66. Kjolhede CL, Gadmoski AM, Wittpenn J, et al. Conjunctival impression cytology: feasibility of a field trial to detect subclinical vitamin A deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr 1989;49:490-494.
- 67. Stoltzfus RJ, Miller KW, Hakimi M, Rasmussen KM. Conjunctival impression cytology as an indicator of vitamin A status in lactating Indonesian women. Am J Clin Nutr 1993;58: (in press).
- 68. Tanumihardjo SA, Muhilal, Yuniar Y, et al. Vitamin A status in preschool-age Indonesian children as assessed by the modified relative-dose-response assay. Am J Clin Nutr 1990;52:1068-1072.
- 69. Tanumihardjo SA, Olson JA. The reproducibility of the modified relative dose response (MRDR) assay in healthy individuals over time and its comparison with conjunctival impression cytology (CIC). Eur J Clin Nutr 1991;45:407-411.

- 70. Hodges RE, Sauberlich HE, Canham JE, et al. Hematopoietic studies in vitamin A deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr 1978;31:876-885.
- 71. Hodges RE, Rucker RB, Gardner RH. Vitamin A deficiency and abnormal metabolism of iron. Ann NYAS 1980;355:58-60.
- 72. Suharno D, West CE, Muhilal, et al. Cross-sectional study on the iron and vitamin A status of pregnant women in west Java, Indonesia. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;56:988-993.
- 73. Jagdeo C. Anaemia Clinic based study at Matlab, ICDDR, B, January 1991.
- 74. Juncker T, Mirza T, Haaga J, Mita R. Evaluation of iron supplementation intervention among pregnant women. MCH-FP Extension Project--ICDDR, B Working Paper No. 74, May 1992.
- 75. Kon SK, Mawson EH. II. The constituents of milk. D. The vitamin A and carotenoid content of milk. Medical Research Committee Special Report Series No. 269 Human Milk 1950:18-24.
- 76. Kon SK, Mawson EH. II. The constituents of milk. A. The fat content of milk. Medical Research Committee Special Report Series No. 269 Human Milk 1950:18-24.
- 77. Institute of Medicine. Nutrition during factation. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences, 1991.
- 78. Lucas A, Gibbs JAH, Lyster RLJ, Baum JD. Creamatocrit: simple clinical technique for estimating fat concentration and energy value of human milk. Br Med J 1978;1:1018-1020.
- 79. Giuliano AR, Neilson EM, Kelly BE, Canfield LM. Simultaneous quantitation and separation of carotenoids and retinol in human milk by high-performance liquid chromatography. Meth Enzymology 1992;213:391-399.
- 80. Bingham SA, Nelson M. Assessment of food consumption and nutrient intake. In: Design Concepts in Nutritional Epidemiology. Margetts BM, Nelson M, eds. Oxford University Press:New York, 1991.
- 81. Helen Keller International, Bangladesh. Tables of Nutrient Composition of Bangladeshi Foods. 1988.
- 82. Hassan N, Huda N, Ahmad K. Seasonal patterns of food intake in rural Bangladesh:its impact on nutritional status. Ecol Food Nutr 1985;17:175-186.
- 83. Brown KH, Black RE, Becker S, Nahar S, Sawyer J. Consumption of foods and nutrients by weanlings in rural Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr 1982;36:878-89.
- 84. Ahmed, Faruque. (personal communication).

- 85. Wahed, MA. (personal communication).
- 86. Smith PG and Morrow RH, ed., Methods for Field Trials of Interventions Against Tropical Diseases: a 'Toolbox'. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1991.

Flow Chart of Activities

	· •	Months	s of Study	
Activities	1993 S O N D	1994 J F M A M J J A S O N D	. 1995 JFMAMJJASOND	1996 J F M A M J
Protocol development	хххх	X		
ICDDR,B approval process	хххх	хх		
JHU approval process		Х		
Forms development and pretesting	Х	XXXX		
Field staff recruitment and training		хх		
Enrollment		хх		
Follow-up		x	ххх	
Data entry and cleaning		x	XXXXX	
Biochemical analyses		x	x	
Data analysis/report writing			x	x

Specific Tasks for each Investigator

Principal Investigator:

Amy Rice

Devel

Develop and finalize protocol

Develop and finalize questionnaires

- Select field and laboratory staff

- Assist with training of field and laboratory staff

- Assist with supervision of Matlab field staff and Matlab and Dhaka laboratory staff

Data analysis and interpretation, writing of

findings and recommendations

Co-Investigator: Dr. Andres de Francisco

Assist with finalization of protocol and questionairres

Assist with selection of field and laboratory staff

Assist with supervision of Dhaka laboratory staff

- Assist with data analysis and interpretation, writing of findings and recommendations

Co:Investigator:
Jyotsnamoy Chakraborty

Assist with selection of field and laboratory staff

Assist with supervision of Matlab field staff

Assist with the coordination of all logistical tasks

in Matlab

Assist with data analysis and interpretation, writing of findings and recommendations

BUDGET

RETIBETA STUDY

AUO. 93

SUBTOTAL

700d

BUDGET

(IR US\$)

3100	LOCAL SA	LARIES					
DESIGNAT		LEVEL	POSTITIONS	ентион-иАК	RATE/HON	T II	AHOUNT
					11112711011	, , ,	AHOONI
MANAGER		Hoc	1	1	1100		1100
HEDICAL		NOR	1	9	800		7200
	VII. DHVKV	GS5	1	12	500		6000
FIELD RE	S. OFF	GS5	1	4	400		1600
SHY		G54	3	36	400		14400
DATA MAN		GS4	1	1	400		400
	RY CLERK	053	1	12	300		3600
	T. MATLAN	083	1	12	300		3600
	TTENDANT	DM	1	12	50		600
CHM	ı	CHM	*80 (15%)	14	100		16800
	II						
3200		•=====================================			•	SUBTOTAL	55300
2500	Питениат	TOHAL STA	\FF		•		
Иси-ве в	HYSTCIAN	P5					
1.011 17 1	1113 CIMA	73	1	1	7060		7060
	ij.						
	4					SUBTOTAL	7060
3700	SUPPLIES	AND DOUG					
		AND DROU	15				
	;	CODE	I TEM	•			
	i	3701	DRUGS				VHORIT
		3703	HOSPITAL L	i n			500
		3708				,	900
•	h	3710					-0_
	il		CLEANING S				100
	1	3714 A 3715	OFFICE SUP				300
		3113	A OHA GOOT	EFRESHMENT CLI	EHIS		3000
	i						
	1					SUBTOTAL	4400
3800	OTHER CO	\$19					
			•				
	PRINTING	AND PUBL	TEATTONS	÷			4==4
	Longtha						1500
							500
	lè i					SUBTOTAL	7000
*4800	(HTERDEP/	ATHEHTA	L SERVICES	***		SUBTUINE	2000
	:						
	•	4802		DHAKA-NATILAGE			200
	ii ii	4803	TRANSPORT !				500 500
	1	4804		SPORT HATLAB		•	5000
		4809	COMMUNICAT	lon			1300
	i						

0300

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER EQUIPMENT 4000

SUBJECT FURNITIONE 5000

TOTAL DIRECT COST BUILD

MANAGEMENT, ADMINISTRATION, PERSONNEL & OTHER INDIRECT COST

24ñ50

TOTAL PROJECT COST-MATCAB

105010

Shawing Ho _ 27/12/93

Justification:

This subcontract budget between ICDDR, B and JHU was drawn up to support the local field activities involved in conducting this study. A number of items neccessary for conducting this study are provided for in the cooperative agreement which JHU has with USAID for the support of this study, rather than in this subcontract. These items include the cost of study capsules, laboratory equipment and supplies.

11

REVIEWERS COMMENT

Most of the experiences so far with large dose Vitamin A prophylaxis programme have involved periodic distribution of high dose supplements as directed towards prevention of clinical eye signs. This is a new attement to find out if supplement of \(\mathcal{B} \)-carotene capsule as a proxy for dietary Vitamin A supplement can also improve the Vitamin \(\Lambda \) status of the mothers and their breast fed infants. I believe preventing programmes with the objective of changing diets including (1) availability of Vitamin A rich foods through horticultur interventions (II) intervention programmes through control of infection and malnutrition and (III) improvement of income generating activities to enable the mothers to increase their purchasing power would possibly be the future strategies for decreasing childhood blindness and other morbidity in most of the third world countries.

The study proposed, is a very important one, though I think it will give us a limited answer in terms of the long term benifits to the children beyond the age of 9 months when they will not be protected anymore by mother's milk. Specially, as it is well known that a significantly large number of children between ages 1-5 years suffer from eye diseases due to Vitamin A deficiency, diarrhoea and respiratory tract infection. Therefore, attempt should be taken also to find out if this has got any long term effect in terms of reducing morbidity and mortality after this 9-months period. Otherwise, again it will be only an interim measure and no long term solution will be achieved.

Since the conversion of B-carotene to vitamin A is not clearly known, I think it would not be a waste to do a small pilot study on a group of mothers to find out if serum and breast milk vitamin A levels are comparable between the two groups receiving B-carotene and high potency capsule.

Finally I would recommend this application because, the information generated from this research would be helpful for formulation of a national programme for improvement of nutritional status of the children of Bangladesh.

In general, the study is carefully designed, well-controlled and if conducted according to plan will serve the objectives and show scientific merit. The study will provide important data to be used for planning effective vitamin A intervention programs. There are a few minor points of comments and suggestions for investigators' consideration:

- 1. The proposal did not specify the reason why enrolled mothers are not matched to assure comparability of key baseline characteristics (age, parity, nutritional status, socioeconomic status etc) prior to assignment to treatment groups. My understanding is that the population are quite uniform or will be screened to be so.
- 2. The investigators admit that dietary vitamin A intake is likely to a be a confounder for the results (page 23) and seasonal variation is known. If so, why not consider collect dietary data at least once per season and if feasible, try 24-hour recall plus weighing method in a subsample population. Although this is not the main focus of the study, it may help to explain up to a certain extent the outcome especially the so-called "placebo effect".
- 3. If infant's blood collection is done by fingerprick, caution must be taken for interstitial fluid contamination.

cc = Amy Rice

Response to Reviewers' Comments

Review 1

Comment: The reviewer suggests that the cohort of children be followed for longer than the nine month study period to examine any effects supplementation has on longterm morbidity and/or mortality.

Response: The sample size for this study (216 infants-divided between three groups) was chosen to detect differences in biochemical measures between groups, not differences in morbidity or mortality. While information on morbidity and mortality among this cohort could be abstracted from MCH-FP records past the nine month follow-up period of this study, the resulting data would have very limited power to examine any differences. For this study morbidity and mortality data will only be collected for descriptive purposes during the nine month follow-up period.

Comment: The reviewer suggests that a pilot study be done to determine whether serum and breastmilk vitamin A levels are comparable between the two groups receiving \(\mathcal{B}\)-carotene and the high potency retinol capsule.

Response: This is planned as part of the baseline assessment. Breastmilk samples will be collected from all women at baseline and analysed for their retinol and β-carotene content. Blood samples will be collected from half of the women (36) in each group at baseline and analyzed for retinol and β-carotene content. This data will be sufficient to establish group comparability at baseline.

Review 2

The responses are numbered according to the reviewer's comments.

- 1. An explanation has been incorporated into the protocol. The population is reasonably homogenous and considering that the randomization sheme is already complex, any marginal benefits that would be obtained by matching the study participants on baseline characteristics would be outweighed by the logistical difficulties involved in attmepting to do so.
- 2. A 24 hour recall interview will be conducted with each woman four times throughout the study, at baseline, three, six and nine months. This will be sufficient to establish group comparability during the study period and describe the dietary patterns in the population.
- 3. Infant's blood collection will be done by heelprick and care will be taken to avoid interstitial fluid contamination.

RRC Review

Informed Consent Statment RETIBETA Study

This is a special health project being carried out by MCH-FP and Johns Hopkins University in the United States. This project has been approved by the Cholera Hospital (ICDDR,B).

The purpose of this project is to see whether giving you special vitamin capsules will help you and your baby. We know that some of the things you eat go into your breastmilk. If we give you vitamins, they may go into your breastmilk and your baby will drink them. The Cholera Hospital (ICDDR,B) will use the results of this study to help decide if these kinds of vitamins should be given to women in Matlab and other parts of Bangladesh to help them and their babies. You are being asked to participate in this study because you live in the MCH-FP intervention area and have recently had a baby.

If you decide to participate, the MCH-FP community health workers will provide you with vitamin capsules for you to take every day for the next nine months. We will also ask you and your baby to come to the Matlab Cholera Hospital for a special health exam visit four times in the next year.

During your visits, the following things will happen:

- 1. The doctor will exam and treat you for any problems you may have.
- 2. Your height and weight and arm circumference will be measured.
- 3. The doctor will examine your eyes to determine how healthy they are. For this exam the doctor will momentarily touch a special piece of paper to the surface of your eye. By looking at this paper under a microscope we can learn about the health of your eyes.
- 4. A female clinic worker will collect a sample of your breastmilk. We will send it to the laboratory in Dhaka to see how nutritious it is.
- 5. A clinic worker will ask you questions about the foods you eat.
- 6. During two of your four visits, the doctor will give you another vitamin capsule and after several hours he will collect a small blood sample to see if the vitamins made your blood more healthy. The blood will be collected from your arm. The total volume of blood collected at one time will be about 3 cc.

The steps in your baby's exam will be:

- 1. Your baby will be examined and treated for any problems it may have.
- 2. The length and weight of your baby will be measured.
- A clinic worker will ask about the foods your baby eats.
- 4. When your baby is six months old, a small blood sample will be taken from the heel. The blood will be examined at a laboratory in Dhaka to see how healthy it is.

For each of the four visits, we will provide transportation for you and your baby to come to the Matlab clinic. You will also receive tea and lunch during your visits.

Your participation in this study is voluntary and you may withdraw at any time. If you choose not to participate, you will continue to receive MCH-FP services as you always have. If you have any questions about this project, you can ask your local community health worker or contact Dr. Andres de Francisco or Amy Rice at the Matlab clinic.

After hearing this explanatio participate. I understand that I may	n of the RETIBETA project, I agree to voluntarily withdraw at any time without any penalty.
Mother's left thumbprint	, 1994 Day/Month
Mother's name	Witness' name

BASELINE (for	QUESTIONNAIRE the mother)
RETIBETA ID:	Date:
Mother's name:	Father's name:
MCID:	Village:
MRID:	Bari:
Baby's name:	
Baby's date of birth:	
Baby's sex: M F	
i II	
Pregnancy events:	
Any special difficulties?	
nightblindness in preg?	
nightlblindness in previous pregnancies?	
Events surrounding birth:	
Where?	
Who attended?	
Any special difficulties?	•
:	
Infant feeding practices:	
When did you start breastfeeding? same day next day	
∥ Did you feed the child colostrum?	
 What other liquids or foods have you given the chi	ld since birth?

24 Hour Recall Interview (with mother)	
RETIBETA ID	Date
1. Did any special event happen yesterday?	Yes [] 1 No [] 2> Go to 4.0
2. Which event or events?	Guests [] 1 Fasting [] 2 Marriage [] 3 Other [] 4
3. Did this alter your diet?	Yes [] 1 No [] 2
4. Other than the RETIBETA study capsules, did you take any type of vitamin pill or capsule?	Yes [] 1 No [] 2> Go to Food List
5. What type of capsule?	

Time/ Activity	Food item	Method of Preparation	Described Amount	Amount (g)	Food Code
!					<u> </u>
				-	
	<u> </u>				
			<u> </u>		ļ
II I					
		<u> </u>			
					-
	· -				

RETIBETA	ID	Number	ī	٦

Time/ Activity	Food item	Method of Preparation	Described Amount	Amount (g)	Foo Cod
ii 					Cou
	·		 		
	<u> </u>				-
•					<u>+</u>
- 					
! !					
					<u> </u>
1					<u> </u>
					
<u> </u>					
					<u> </u>
					ļ
il					-
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				<u> </u>
įi –					
-				1	
	<u> </u>				
ļ	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-		
1				<u> </u>	L
				1	
1					
<u> </u>				 	
				<u> </u>	<u> </u>
:					-
·	<u></u>				-
-			. 7		
<u>!</u>					

1		
Interviewer	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Reviewer		Date: / /
Data Entry		Date: - / - / -
		Date: - / - / -
i i		

TON	1 3.
INFANT SUPPLEMENTAL FEEDING QUESTIONAIRRE	
Mother's name: RETIBETA ID:	
Baby s name: Date:	
Baby's birthdate:	
1.0 Has your baby been sick during the past week?	
[] no> go to 3.0	
2.0 Has your baby eaten normally during the past week?	
[] yes [] no	
3.0 Has your baby eaten or drank anything other than breastmilk during the past week?	e
[] yes [] no> STOP	
J	
Please check all the foods that your baby has eaten during the past week.	
Liquids:	

ITEM	none	1-3 wk	4-6 wk	l day	2 day	3 day	4+ day	vol
water	,						day	tsp.
sugar water							<u> </u>	
rice water								
tea								
other								
							ľ	

Porridges:

							_	
ITEM	none	1-3	4-6	1	2	3	4+	vo 1
		wk	wk	day	day	day	day	vol tsp.
			<u> </u>					
		ı			·			
								
other								
					<u> </u>			-

Fruits:

		_ 	r———					
ITEM	none	1-3 wk	4-6 wk	1 day	2 day	3 day	4+ day	vol
							uuy	tsp.
				<u>-</u>				·
other						· 		
				- <u>-</u>	i		j	

Vegetables:

								
ITEM	none	1-3 wk	4-6 wk	1 day	2 day	3 day	4+ day	vol tsp.
other								

Vitamin	capsules/medicines
l) yes	

	BREASTMILK SAMPLE QUESTIONNAIRE	
Mot	her's name: RETIBETA ID:	
Bab	y's name: Date:	
Bab	y's birthdate:	
	Time at start of interview	
2.0	How long has it been since you fed your baby from your 1	eft breast?
[]	<pre>2 hours Collect the sample from the left breast> go to 4.6 < 2 hours don't know left breast rarely used to breastfeed</pre>	0
3.0	How long has it been since you fed your baby from your ra	ight breact?
	<pre>2 hours Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0</pre>	
[]	1.5 - 2.0 hours Add 1/2 hour to the start of interview time and record Wait until then. Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0	[:_]
[]	1.0 - 1.5 hours Add 1 hour to the start of interview time and record Wait until then. Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0	[:]
[]	0.5 - 1.0 hour Add 1 1/2 hours to the start of interview time and recor Wait until then. Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0	
	0.5 hours Add 2 hours to the start of interview time and record Wait until then. Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0	. [;]
[]	don't know Add 2 hours to the start of interview time and record Wait until then. Collect the sample from the right breast> go to 4.0	[:_ 1
4.0	Time sample collection began	
5.0	Sample taken from r	ight breast []
6.0	Volume of sample	left breast []
		page 1/1

	3				
<u> </u>		ANTHROPOMETRIC	MEASUREMENTS		
Baby	ner's name: 's name: 's birthdate:		RETIBETA Date:	ID:	
	Baby's weight				[,] kg
	Baby's length				[,] cm
•	Mother's weight Mother's height				[,] kg
	Mother's mid-upper arm	n circumference	:		[,] cm
	i i		•		[,] cm